
All public business will be conducted by 11:00 p.m. unless waived by a vote of the Commission.   

Any party needing an accommodation contact the Planning & Development Department at (860) 871-3601. 

The Town of Tolland is an Affirmative Action/Equal Opportunity Employer. 

Agenda 

Tolland Green Historic District Commission 
21 Tolland Green, Tolland, Connecticut 

Wednesday, March 20, 2024 at 7:00 p.m., via Zoom 

Remote Participation Only 

 
1. Call to Order 

2. Seating of Alternate(s) 

3. Additions to Agenda 

4. Public Comment - Any person wishing to ask a question, make a comment or put forward a 

suggestion for any item or matter other than a public hearing item (2 minute limit). 

5. Public Hearing(s) 

5.01. Testimony Received  

5.1. HDC #24-02 Certificate of Appropriateness- Request to install building-mounted solar arrays. 

5.1.1. Refer to Testimony Received 5.01 

5.2. HDC #24-03 Certificate of Appropriateness- Request to install building-mounted solar arrays. 

5.2.1. Refer to Testimony Received 5.01  

6. New Business 

6.1. Consideration of the COA at 45 Tolland Green by the Commission, and vote thereon 

6.2. Consideration of the COA at 95 Tolland Green by the Commission, and vote thereon 

6.3. Discuss COA application fees and application requirements 

7. Old Business 

8. Correspondence 

9. Approval of Minutes – February 21, 2024 Regular Meeting  

10. Adjournment 

 

To join the Zoom meeting, either click: 

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/82431515423?pwd=nJYD5z0yKkaIMKfCzmvDbjXSBDMC3a.1 

One tap mobile: +13052241968,,82431515423#,,,,*03202024# US  

Or call: 1-646-876-9923 and input: 

Meeting ID: 824 3151 5423 

Passcode: 03202024 

1

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/82431515423?pwd=nJYD5z0yKkaIMKfCzmvDbjXSBDMC3a.1


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 

5.01 

2



Laura Smith 

 
From: Susan Lucek < > 

Sent: Monday, March 18, 2024 11:06 AM 

To: Laura Smith; Town Council; Jim Paquin 

Cc: Hughes, John 

Subject: [EXTERNAL]Examples of historic solar in CT-for 3/20 HDC meeting 

Attachments: hdc_21-05_article.pdf; Branfordsolar.jpg; Salisburyhistoricsolar.png 
 

 
 

To the Tolland Historic District Commission and Tolland Town Council: 
 
I would like to submit the below information and attached articles and photos in support of the two 
applications for solar panels in the Tolland Historic District that will come before the HDC for the 
second and third time on Wed. March 20. 

 
As stated in Chapter 97, Sec. 7-147f of the Connecticut statutes prohibit a commission from denying 
an application for a certificate of appropriateness for a “solar energy system designed for the 
utilization of renewable resources” unless “the commission finds that the feature cannot be installed 
without substantially impairing the historic character and appearance of the district.” 

 
From the attached Energy News Network article which quotes the CT State Historic Preservation 
Office: 

 
"Historic preservation boards are seeing more requests related to solar panels and increasingly 
finding compromise. 

 
Historic preservation boards are increasingly finding ways to compromise with homeowners who want 
to install solar panels in historically significant areas. 

 
The acceptance of solar comes as technology helps to make systems less obtrusive, and also as 
more historic preservationists recognize the urgency to address climate change. 

 
Cases involving solar panels are also becoming more common. In Connecticut, about a tenth of the 
state’s 3,000 historic preservation cases last year involved solar installations. That’s a significant 
increase from five years ago, said Todd Levine, an architectural historian for the state’s preservation 
office. 

 
Of those 300 solar cases, only 10 were concluded to have adverse effects, but even in those cases 
the state office was able to work with stakeholders and ultimately approve them all." 

 
I would also call your attention to the photos attached, which show multiple historic CT buildings, with 
solar systems, one posted on a Ct.gov main page showing a roof mounted solar system on a historic 
home, zero lot line. 

 
The below links clearly show the preferred use of solar on side facing roof surfaces of historic homes 
and buildings. 

 
Salisbury Historic District Commission Solar Guidelines – “To Do” photo included in booklet: 
https://www.historicsalisburyct.org/solar-energy-booklet-information 

3

http://www.historicsalisburyct.org/solar-energy-booklet-information
http://www.historicsalisburyct.org/solar-energy-booklet-information
http://www.historicsalisburyct.org/solar-energy-booklet-information


CT.gov photo on main page shows roof mounted solar on historic home, zero lot line:  

https://portal.ct.gov/DECD/Content/Historic-
Preservation/03_Technical_Assistance_Research/Energy-Efficiency-For-Historic-Houses 

 
Energy News Network article quoting CT SHPO:  

https://energynews.us/2019/03/04/connecticut-historic-preservation-boards-warming-up-to-solar-
panels/ 

(hdc_21-05_article.pdf full text attached) 
 
 
 
 

In accordance with state guidance and statutes and many other CT historic districts, we appreciate 
your prompt review and approval of these solar applications. 

 
 
 
 
Thank you. 

 
Susan Lucek-Hughes 

 
95 Tolland Green 

4

https://portal.ct.gov/DECD/Content/Historic-Preservation/03_Technical_Assistance_Research/Energy-Efficiency-For-Historic-Houses
https://portal.ct.gov/DECD/Content/Historic-Preservation/03_Technical_Assistance_Research/Energy-Efficiency-For-Historic-Houses
https://energynews.us/2019/03/04/connecticut-historic-preservation-boards-warming-up-to-solar-panels/
https://energynews.us/2019/03/04/connecticut-historic-preservation-boards-warming-up-to-solar-panels/


5



6



7



8



9



1

Laura Smith

From: Jodie Coleman-Marzialo 
Sent: Tuesday, March 19, 2024 11:02 PM
To: Laura Smith
Cc: Jim Paquin
Subject: [EXTERNAL]Fw: HDC Public hearings

Hi Laura, 
 
For the mtg packet please. 
 
Thanks, 
Jodie 
 

From: Hollie Barnas   
Sent: Tuesday, March 19, 2024 5:08 PM 
To: Jodie Coleman‐Marzialo   
Subject: Re: HDC Public hearings  
  
Hi Jodie, 
As I noted in a previous email, we are not opposed to solar panels as long as 2 conditions are met: 1. Panels are 
not visible from the street and 2. Tall trees must be planted to obscure any street visible panels as well as for 
any panels that are noticeable to other residents’ sight lines; front, side or back. The church took down all the 
tall trees which used to obscure our side and back view, now leaving us a view of a parking lot and roof 
proposed for solar panels. Therefore, I object to any proposed solar panels on the church roof unless they are 
willing to restore the trees and allow for our view to be obscure thereby restoring our historic ambience. Thank 
you for allowing comment, Hollie 
 
On Fri, Mar 15, 2024 at 11:37 AM Jodie Coleman-Marzialo < > wrote: 
Hi Hollie and Dave, 
 
I wanted you to know that there is a PH next Wednesday for solar panels on the UCCT and 95 Tolland Green. 
Please consider sending an email and/or attending the meeting via Zoom regarding your opinion. The packet 
link is below. 
 
Thanks, 
Jodie 
 
 
https://www.tollandct.gov/sites/g/files/vyhlif11831/f/uploads/2024‐03‐20_meeting_packet_amended.pdf 

10



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 

5.1 

11



 

Legal Notice  

Public Hearing 

 

Tolland Green Historic District Commission 

 

The Tolland Green Historic District Commission will hold a Public Hearing on Wednesday, 

March 20, 2024, commencing at 7:00 p.m., to hear and discuss the following:    

 

45 Tolland Green - Request by Kevin Thompson to install a roof-mounted solar array 

95 Tolland Green - Request by Venture Home Solar to install a roof-mounted solar array 

 

A copy of these applications are on file and available for review online: 

https://www.tollandct.gov/historic-district-commission/pages/applications-pending 

 

To be advertised twice in the Journal Inquirer: Thursday, March 7, 2024 and 

       Thursday, March 14, 2024 
 

12



13



14



Join Us in Supporting the UCCT Holistic Commitment to a Green Environment

• The main source of carbon emissions is powering the electrical grid

• Through the release of 2350 billion tons of carbon dioxide since 1850, the average global 

temperature has increased 2 degrees Fahrenheit1

• By 2100 the average global temperature is expected to have increased by 5-10 degrees Fahrenheit1

• The impact of rising global temperatures includes:

• Extended periods of drought

• Severe deluges with flooding

• Periods of dangerous heat waves

• Rising sea levels

• Melting of permafrost and ice caps that release methane and possibly release pathogens

• Solar panels are recyclable. 17 US Solar Panel Recycling Company Directory. 

• In 2023 investments in UCCT Green initiatives including LED lighting and setback thermostats 

exceeded $25,000

• Similar investments continue in 2024

1 https://www.climate.gov/news-features/understanding-climate/climate-change-global-temperature

15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



Join Us in Supporting this Compromise Solar Panel Proposal

• This Compromise Solar Panel Proposal:

• Creates green environment support that is only incidentally visible from a public street

• Results in no substantial impairment of the historic character and appearance of the district

• Relieves UCCT from exceptional practical difficulty and undue financial hardship

• Supports long-term continuation and support of UCCT and its 715 members

• Aligns with UCCT member vote to approve Compromise proposal

• Encourages continued UCCT community involvement and support

• Demonstrates meaningful compromise between historic preservation and global 

stewardship

• Establishes a tasteful, prestigious Tolland example of historic preservation, reduced carbon 

footprint, and green environment support

• UCCT respectfully requests TGHDC approval of this compromise solar 

proposal 28



29



30



31



32



1

Laura Smith

From: Kevin Thompson 
Sent: Friday, March 8, 2024 4:44 PM
To: Laura Smith
Subject: [EXTERNAL]Re: FW: [EXTERNAL]Re: COA Application 45 Tolland Green
Attachments: UCCT Solar Presentation Rev One 03.08.2024.pptx

Hello Laura, 
 
Attached is a revised presentation that addresses the questions raised by the Tolland Green Historic District 
Commission Chair. Please see presentation references in blue. 
 
Please confirm receipt and distribution to the TGHDC.  
 
Thank you, 
 
Kevin Thompson 
 
On Mon, Mar 4, 2024 at 8:12 AM Laura Smith <lsmith@tollandct.gov> wrote: 

Good morning,  

Please see below for the requested information from the Chair of the TGHDC. Any correspondence can be emailed 
directly to me.  

Kind regards,  

  

Laura Smith  

Building Permit Technician 

21 Tolland Green 

Tolland, CT 06084 

860‐871‐3601 

lsmith@tollandct.gov 

  

Please note the change in my email address to lsmith@tollandct.gov 

  

33



2

From: Jodie Coleman‐Marzialo    
Sent: Friday, March 1, 2024 9:36 AM 
To: Laura Smith <lsmith@Tollandct.gov>; Jim Paquin <jpaquin@Tollandct.gov> 
Cc: Ann Deegan  ; Celeste Senechal  ; Kathy Bach 

; Fred Day‐Lewis  ; Mariah B  ; John Hughes 
 Katie Stargardter   

Subject: [EXTERNAL]Re: COA Application 45 Tolland Green  

  

Thank you, Laura.  

  

Can you please ask the applicant for: 

  

1. The locations/addresses of the 2 stone churches they reference in the packet so we can see where they are 
located within an HD. Given a presumed preference for CT historic district solar panel photographs, new 
images with CT location references replace previous federal examples and are on slides 12 and 13. 

  

2. For current pictures taken of the property with the tree as seen today (a winter view). Winter view images 
are on slide 11. 

  

3. A current (winter view) before and after picture of the proposed solar installation including the # of panels. 
The after‐view picture provided in the packet has the solar panels superimposed on top and in front of a tree 
with leaves, which does not depict the actual view of the roof demonstrating as it will be seen from the street 
today. Winter view images are on slide 11. Number of roof panels is on slide 10. 

  

4. A realistic picture/photograph of the actual solar panel, so we can see how visible the silver lines will be. 
The flyer included in the packet is difficult to see. Enlarged images are on slide 7. There is slight variation on 
panel surfaces based on panel availability at the time of installation. The panels proposed in this revision are 
all black as compared to the original presentation which were black with aluminum borders. 

  

5. Photographs of the same solar panels installed on existing properties. Existing property images are on slide 
8. 

  

34



3

At our next scheduled HDC meeting on March 20th we will be discussing and updating our COA application 
form to reflect these requirements. Thank you for your assistance with this request. 

  

Much appreciated, 

Jodie 

  

  

From: Laura Smith <lsmith@Tollandct.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, February 29, 2024 4:34 PM 
To: Jodie Coleman‐Marzialo   
Subject: COA Application 45 Tolland Green  

  

Hi Jodie, 

Attached is the new COA application for 45 Tolland Green. 

Have a nice night. 

  

Laura Smith 

Building Permit Technician 

21 Tolland Green 

Tolland, CT 06084 

860‐871‐3601 

lsmith@tollandct.gov 

  

Please note the change in my email address to lsmith@tollandct.gov 

  

35



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 

5.2 

36



 

Legal Notice  

Public Hearing 

 

Tolland Green Historic District Commission 

 

The Tolland Green Historic District Commission will hold a Public Hearing on Wednesday, 

March 20, 2024, commencing at 7:00 p.m., to hear and discuss the following:    

 

45 Tolland Green - Request by Kevin Thompson to install a roof-mounted solar array 

95 Tolland Green - Request by Venture Home Solar to install a roof-mounted solar array 

 

A copy of these applications are on file and available for review online: 

https://www.tollandct.gov/historic-district-commission/pages/applications-pending 

 

To be advertised twice in the Journal Inquirer: Thursday, March 7, 2024 and 

       Thursday, March 14, 2024 
 

37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 

6.3 

61



62



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 9 

63



Minutes 

Tolland Green Historic District Commission 

21 Tolland Green, Tolland, Connecticut 

Wednesday, February 21, 2024 at 7:00 PM via Zoom 

Remote Participation Only 

 

1. Call to order at 7:11 PM 

 

Roll Call: 

Members: Jodie Coleman-Marzialo; Celeste Senechal; Ann Deegan; Frederick Day-Lewis 

Alternates: John Hughes; Michael McGee 

Town Council Liaison: Katie Stargardter 

Guests: Denis Deegan; Joshua Esposito; Heather and Matthew Ferretti; Denmar Lawrence; 

Marilu Medina; Claudette Morehouse; Ann Nelson  

 

J. Hughes recused himself from his role as an alternate for the matter of HDC #24-01. 

  

2. Election of officers for the new year  

 

Motion: To elect J. Coleman-Marzialo Chair of the Historic District Commission (HDC) 

By: K. Bach; 2nd A. Deegan 

There was no discussion. 

Voice vote: Unanimous in favor – the motion passed. 

 

Motion: To elect C. Senechal Vice Chair of the HDC 

By: K. Bach; 2nd A. Deegan 

There was no discussion. 

Voice vote: Unanimous in favor – the motion passed. 

 

K. Bach and A. Deegan thanked the HDC for the privilege of serving in the role of clerk or 

acting clerk and nominated F. Day-Lewis for clerk, based on the premise that he was the newest 

alternate, and it would be easier for an alternate than a voting member to keep minutes.  

  

F. Day-Lewis said that he had been appointed by the Town Council (TC) as a seated, voting 

member. K. Stargardter confirmed that the TC voted to appoint Day-Lewis to the open seat on 

the HDC as a voting member. With no alternates expressing interest in serving as clerk, Day-

Lewis accepted the nomination to serve as clerk on a trial basis.  

 

Motion: To elect F. Day-Lewis to serve as Clerk of the HDC on a temporary basis  

By: K. Bach; 2nd A. Deegan  

Voice vote: Unanimous in favor – the motion passed. 

 

M. McGee agreed to continue as enforcement officer.  

 

The HDC and officers for 2024 are thus: 

Jodie Coleman-Marzialo (Chair) 

64



Celeste Senechal (Vice Chair) 

Fred Day-Lewis (Clerk) 

Other voting members: Kathy Bach; Ann Deegan  

Alternates: John Hughes; Michael McGee; and Mariah Bumps (absent)  

Enforcement office (continuing): Michael McGee 

 

3. Seating of alternates 

 

No additional alternates were seated. 

 

4. Additions to agenda 

 

C. Senechal proposed inclusion of an item for enforcement in future agendas.  

 

5. Public comment 

 

None. 

 

6. Public hearing(s)  

 

6.1. The public hearing was opened for a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) at 95 Tolland 

Green: HDC #24-01 Certificate of Appropriateness- Request to install PV solar panels, roof-

mounted installation 13.60kW- 32 panels- not structural upgrades.  

 

J. Coleman-Marzialo read the Public Notice as it appeared in the Journal Inquirer, where it ran 8-

February 2024 and 15-February 2024; this notice was also posted in the meeting packet online. 

 

J. Hughes presented the COA application for installation of solar panels, continuing with 

renovations and to make his family’s house more affordable in the face of rapidly rising 

electricity costs. His goal is to enable his family to stay long-term in the house that he has been 

renovating. Furthermore, he finds solar appealing given its benefits in terms of sustainability, 

decentralizing the power grid, and reducing our environmental footprint/impact. He said that in 

his view solar panels do not detract from the historic aspect of the house, and the layout would 

be barely visible from the street. He said that solar is increasingly accepted in historic districts 

(HDs) across the country. Within view of his house are plastic fences, metal fences, and houses 

built in the 1960s or 1980s; hence he does not feel that this project would detract from the HD.  

 

J. Esposito, representing the Hughes’ solar contractor, spoke to the environmental benefits of 

solar and outlined the layout of the system. He showed street views through screen sharing in 

Zoom. He also showed the results of a shade study which indicated the footprint of panels on the 

roof and the larger area of roof where solar could be effective, including at the front of the house. 

The panels would be installed on only one roof, on the side of the house, and not all the way to 

the front. He said that in the proposed design, the panels were pushed back as far as possible on 

the roof to minimize view from street under constraints imposed by the roof construction and its 

exposure to the sun. Driving from the west past the house, there would be “zero view” of panels. 

65



From the east, the panels would be set back far enough to be largely hidden by trees and the 

adjacent house.  

 

J. Coleman-Marzialo posed questions to J. Esposito about the design of the system and asked 

that he compare this design to the one in a proposal submitted previously by the applicant. J. 

Esposito had no information about the former proposal from 2020. J. Hughes said the design 

goal was to minimize the layout while keeping it economically beneficial (90% of electric use). 

In the design, the panels were located at the back of the roof to the extent possible. 

 

J. Coleman-Marzialo asked if the use of different roofs located at the back of the house and on a 

secondary structure had been considered as alternatives to the more visible side roof used in the 

design. J. Esposito said there were design constraints related to roof pitch and azimuth. He said 

the use of the back roofs would have negative visual impact because of the additional conduit 

and electrical that would be required to link multiple buildings. He said the use of lower pitch 

roofs would require lifting panels off the roof and tilting them, and there are structural issues 

with low-pitch roofs. He said the proposed design minimized visibility to a reasonable extent.  

 

K. Bach expressed concern over visibility from the street and visibility to the neighbors and 

suggested that moving panels to the back of the property would be helpful and advantageous to 

the proposal, and that the extra conduit would be visible only to the homeowner.  

 

K. Bach said she was opposed to solar on moral grounds unrelated to HD considerations. She 

said her opposition to solar would never be addressed through design modifications, but at least 

neighbors’ concerns might be mitigated if panels could be relocated and made less visible.  

 

A. Deegan asked about a tree on the adjacent property and questioned how effectively the tree 

would screen the view from the street.  

  

K. Bach likened the role of the HDC to that of a Homeowners Association (HOA). She pointed 

to Colonial Williamsburg as a model of how an historic community should function.   

 

J. Esposito said that moving panels to the back roof and the roof of the secondary structure, if 

possible, would require more conduit and connections and questioned whether it would serve to 

minimize the aesthetic impact of the overall project.  

 

J. Coleman-Marzialo said that 95 Tolland Green is a nationally registered historic property in a 

nationally registered historic green, so every effort should be made to minimize visual impact 

from the street. She said that the DOI and NPS state that solar panels should be installed where 

not visible from the street.  

 

F. Day-Lewis questioned this characterization of the DOI guidelines, saying that the guidelines 

allow panels to be visible from the street. He said that panels should be on the sides or rear of 

houses where possible, but that the guidelines do not require panels to be unseen from streets.  

 

Day-Lewis asked for details of the specific panels to be used including the color of the panels 

and their offset from the roof.  

66



 

A. Deegan repeated her earlier question, asking whether J. Esposito could show where panels are 

relative to the tree on the neighboring property. She said that the panels would be visible from 

the street and asked if there were town regulations limiting visibility of solar from neighbors’ 

houses.  

 

K. Stargardter requested to speak as a resident of the town and not as a TC member nor as TC 

liaison to the HDC. She said a recent town manager (TM) report documented extra costs and 

time devoted by town staff to support processing of the last COA related to solar. She asked that 

the HDC strive to come to a decision on this COA in a timely manner and not create undue 

burden for the Town.  

 

K. Stargardter referred the HDC to Connecticut State Statute Section 7.147f (a) “No application 

for a certificate of appropriateness for an exterior architectural feature, such as a solar energy 

system, designed for the utilization of renewable resources shall be denied unless the 

commission finds that the feature cannot be installed without substantially impairing the historic 

character and appearance of the district.” She asked that the HDC, whatever its decision, speak 

specifically to compliance with this statute. She also referred the HDC to examples at the 

National Park Service web site showing solar panels on historic properties in historic areas, 

including examples of NPS-compliant installations in which panels are visible from the street, 

albeit low-profile and set back as far from the street as possible. She asked the HDC to consider 

compliance with this national standard.    

 

J. Coleman-Marzialo said she had seen the examples on the NPS site.   

 

C. Morehouse asked if there were any Planning & Zoning (P&Z) limitations with respect to 

setbacks and if the project had yet been approved by P&Z. K. Stargardter pointed out that the 

setback restrictions pertain only to ground-mounted systems.  

 

H. and M. Ferretti, direct neighbors, both spoke and referred HDC members to photographs in 

the packet showing the view from their house to the house at 95 Tolland Green. H. Ferretti said 

that the two houses are offset only about 20 feet. The views from the Ferrettis’ windows look 

onto the Hughes’ roof which currently is covered in black asphalt shingles. 

 

J. Coleman-Marzialo said that the existing solar installations in the district are on houses offset 

much farther, with less visibility from neighbors.  

 

J. Huges said the solar panels would not change the Ferrettis’ view of his house from their own—

it’s a black roof with or without panels.  

 

K. Bach asked about the height of panels off the roof. J. Esposito answered that the panels would 

be 2-4 inches from the roof.  

 

With photographs from the agenda packet showing the views from the Ferrettis’ house in Zoom, 

M. Ferretti posed the question: If you were looking to buy an historic home, would you buy a 

house with that view? M. Ferretti said that having solar on the roof of the house next-door would 

67



make his house more difficult to sell. The Ferrettis said that they would not oppose solar panels 

they could not see from their house, back yard, or front porch. If panels could be relocated to the 

other two roofs, they would not oppose.  

 

M. McGee said that as an electrical engineer he could not understand why the COA was not 

already approved.   

 

D. Deegan said that in his view people buying homes in the HD are committing to preserving 

history in the community. He said that the subject property is not just any house in the HD but 

rather a former grange. He said that it was beyond him how anyone would buy an historic 

property and modify it in the way proposed. Regarding the neighbors’ comments, “Beauty is in 

the eyes of the beholder.” He said that if he were living next to a house where solar was installed, 

he would sue that neighbor, the Town, and everyone who had supported the project. He said the 

solar installation would negatively impact the value of neighboring houses. He opposed 

installation of solar panels on historic homes and opposed the application under consideration. 

 

J. Hughes said that the house would not even be there had he not purchased it and saved it from 

demolition.  

 

D. Deegan said the Town should have neither sold the property nor disposed of it. He said that 

the Town should have renovated the building for use as a social center for youth or for some 

other public purpose.  

 

J. Coleman-Marzialo said that for its purchase price, someone else could have bought the house, 

and that it would not have been demolished. J. Coleman-Marzialo and J. Hughes contested 

whether the house would have been demolished had the Hughes not purchased and renovated it. 

J. Coleman-Marzialo said the HDC might have stepped in to stop the demolition. J. Hughes said 

that the demolition permit was before P&Z at the time of his purchase.    

 

Motion: To close the public hearing at 8:26 PM. 

By: K. Bach; 2nd C. Senechal 

There was no discussion. 

Voice vote: Unanimous in favor – the motion passed. 

 

7. Old Business: 

 

None. 

 

8. New Business 

 

8.1. The regular meeting was called to order to consider the COA HDC #24-01 at 95 Tolland 

Green by the Commission, and vote thereon. 

 

F. Day-Lewis said he supported approval of the COA. He said that based on his past discussions 

with an historic architect and several attorneys, it is his understanding that the CT state statutes 

explicitly disallow an HDC from denying a COA for solar unless the project would substantially 

68



impair the entire district. He said the DOI guidelines are clear that the goal is to minimize solar 

visibility and blend with asphalt shingles but not to prevent installation altogether. He said that 

the guidelines allow for panels on the sides of houses and even fronts in some cases. He noted 

that asphalt shingles have only been used for ~90 years and are also anachronistic in the HD. He 

found the Hughes’ plan to be consistent with the DOI guidelines and said the HDC should not 

deny the COA based personal opinions that run counter to statutes and guidelines.  

 

C. Senechal said she found remarks about plastic and metal fences interesting. She said that she 

feels that plastic and seeing solar panels form the street detract substantially from the historic 

feeling of a neighborhood. After seeing the photographs of the neighbors’ view of the roof and 

considering the concern over negative impact to house values, it’s not about one person versus 

another but rather the need to preserve the historic nature of the district.  

 

J. Coleman-Marzialo asked about the color of the panels and whether silver-colored lines are 

visible. Referring to photographs in the packet and by screen sharing additional photos, she said 

there’s a variety of panel appearance, some with grids of metallic lines and a considerable 

amount of silver metal showing, others all-black cells and black framing. J. Esposito confirmed 

that his company’s panels would be all-black, with no obvious silver showing or highly visible 

grid within the cells. J. Esposito showed additional photographs of a solar installation within the 

HD on Tolland Stage Rd., with road-facing solar cells, as well as photographs of his company’s 

product which is all-black with no shiny silver-colored metal.  

 

A. Deegan asked for explanation of the calculation of electrical billing offset as it relates to solar 

production. J. Esposito provided an explanation but said a complete answer would require 

assistance from his billing department.    

 

K. Bach described the HD as a “conundrum,” as it was established after the installation of power 

lines and widening of roads. She said that change occurs, but core values should remain—there 

should be trust and respect among neighbors, and there has to be something like an HOA in the 

HD. She said some things will stay, and some are “flash-in-the-pan conservation tools.” She 

spoke about wastefulness and lack of recycling with solar panels. She said that promises about 

solar technology have not been kept, and she described this as the basis for her moral opposition 

to solar power. She said that the only answer is conservation. With respect to the COA before the 

HDC, she felt no effort was made to put panels farther back on the roofs and used the property 

differently out of respect for neighbors.  

 

J. Esposito asked whether moving panels to the back of the house would only shift the 

problematic view to another neighbor. K. said that the rear of the property was not visible from 

another residence.  

 

J. Coleman-Marzialo laid out options for motions to support, deny, or ask for modifications and 

requested a motion.  

 

J. Esposito asked that any motion involving requests for modification should provide detailed 

instruction for what would be acceptable to the HDC.  

 

69



There was a brief discussion of reopening the public hearing to enable further discussion of 

engineering modification. 

 

Motion: To deny HDC #24-01 COA for solar panels at 95 Tolland Green as presented  

By: C. Senechal; 2nd K. Bach 

 

F. Day-Lewis said he opposed the motion to deny the COA, describing the motion’s assertion 

that the project substantially impairs the district as incorrect, inconsistent with state statutes and 

DOI guidelines, and inconsistent with practices in many other HDs around CT. He said that 

based on his conversations with an historic architect and attorneys in the past, he believed the 

Town would lose in court if the COA were denied and an appeal filed by the applicants. He did 

not want to see taxpayers bear these unnecessary costs.  

 

A. Deegan said she was in favor of the motion as written, that the solar installation would impair 

the HD, and that decisions by other HDs to allow solar do not make it historically right. She said 

she did not feel that the HDC should approve a COA out of fear of litigation, as happened with a 

previous application for solar that came before the HDC.  

 

J. Esposito began to ask a question, but K. Stargardter called a point of order that the public 

hearing was closed. 

 

J. Coleman-Marzialo said that the project would impair the HD and Green, that visibility would 

be excessive. She said that other solar projects in the HD had the support of neighbors, and that 

this was not true for this COA. She described the house in question as unique in the district, as it 

was formerly a grange. She felt no effort was made to place panels on other, less visible roofs on 

non-historic additions or outbuildings. She expressed concern about the maple tree’s health and 

how long it would serve to help screen the street view of the panels. She said that this is a 

nationally registered historic district, with a charge from the TC to preserve the historic nature of 

the district. She said that the installation would definitely impair the historic nature of all the 

properties in the district.  

 

K. Stargardter requested a roll-call vote.  

 

Vote on motion to deny the COA: 

Roll-call vote:  

In favor: K. Bach; A. Deegan; C. Senechal; J. Coleman-Marzialo 

Against: F. Day-Lewis 

The motion to deny the COA passed. 

 

J. Coleman-Marzialo said that the COA application fee would be waived should the applicant 

choose to revise the design and submit a new application. A new application would be considered 

without prejudice.  

 

  

70



9. Other business 

 

K. Stargardter informed the HDC that the TC expects the TM’s budget on March 13. The TC will 

soon start deliberations, and any outstanding requests should be submitted as soon as possible. J. 

Coleman-Marzialo asked how to find information about the HDC budget. K. Stargardter said the 

budget book is available online. There was discussion of a budget request for streetlights. The 

installation of streetlights is currently held up while awaiting resolution of the sidewalk issue.  

 

K. Bach asked about the status of a grant for the Jail Museum. K. Stargardter said that this has 

not yet been presented to the TC. K. Bach asked if the TC would contact the Tolland Historical 

Society to work out the details of the grant application related to building use. K. Stargardter said 

there are legal issues complicating the process. K. Bach suggested J. Coleman-Marzialo 

communicate with the TC and TM about the grant.   

 

10. Correspondence 

A letter was included in the packet from Rev. Dr. J. Gallagher in support of HDC #24-01 COA.  

 

11. Approval of minutes 

Motion: To accept the minutes from the Special meeting on November 29, 2023 

By: C. Senechal; 2nd A. Deegan 

In favor: J. Coleman-Marzialo, A. Deegan, C. Senechal 

Abstentions: K. Bach and F. Day-Lewis 

The motion passed. 

 

Motion: To adjourn the meeting at 9:00 PM  

Voice vote: Unanimous in favor – the motion passed. 

 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

Frederick Day-Lewis, Acting Clerk 

71




